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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 

 

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements 

of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. 

 

1. Opinion of Directors 

 

 In the opinion of the directors, 

 

 (a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Group 

and the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 

and the Company as at 31 December 2018 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash 

flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and 

 

 (b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 

 The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue. 

 

2. Directors 

 

 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 

 

 Ling Yew Kong 

 David Wang 

 

3. Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares or Debentures 

 

 Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 

whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 

means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than 

as disclosed under “Share Options” in note 5 of this statement. 

 

4. Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures 

 

 According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the directors holding office at the end of the financial 

year had no interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related companies, except as stated 

below: 

 

 Direct interest Indirect interest 

     

 

 

Name of Director 

The Company 

At the beginning of 

financial year  

At the end of 

financial year 

 

At the beginning of 

financial year  

At the end of 

financial year 

 

Ling Yew Kong - - *91,665,800 *91,665,800 

 

* Ling Yew Kong is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Alphasky Group Limited, of which is 

wholly-owned by Ling Yew Kong. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018  

 

 

5. Share Options 

 

 (a) The Firstlink Investments Corporation (2001) Share Option Scheme 

   

  The Firstlink Investments Corporation Limited (2001) Share Option Scheme (“the 2001 Scheme”) in 

respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved by the members of the Company at an 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 May 2001 to replace the previous share option scheme. 

   

  Options to subscribe for 4,630,000, 4,770,000, 9,370,000, 44,130,000, 4,500,000 and 5,820,000 ordinary 

shares were granted on 05 July 2001, 10 July 2002, 24 November 2003, 10 April 2006, 26 March 2008 

and 30 April 2010 respectively. Details of these options have been disclosed in the Directors’ Statements 

for the financial years in which the options were granted. 

   

  Under the 2001 Scheme, the directors may at their discretion, grant options to directors and employees of 

the Company and subsidiaries to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. The aggregate number of 

shares to be issued under the 2001 Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total issued shares of the 

Company. The 2001 Scheme shall remain in force for a maximum duration of 10 years. The share 

options may be granted up to a maximum discount of 20% to the subscription price and may be exercised 

in full or in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the subscription price. 

 

 (b) Options outstanding 

   

  At 31 December 2018, options to take up 900,000 unissued shares in the Company under the 2001 

Scheme were outstanding, details of which are as follows: 

 

Date of 

grant  

No. of 

ordinary 

shares 

under 

options 

granted 

Balance at 

01.01.2018 

Cancelled

/rejected/ 

lapsed 

Balance at 

31.12.2018 

Original 

exercise 

price per 

share 

Adjusted 

exercise 

price per 

share 

 

 

 

 

Date of 

expiry 

 
 

   

S$ S$  

30.04.2010 1,820,000 900,000 - 900,000 0.072 - 29.04.2020 

 

 (c) No options have been granted to controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates at the point 

of grant. 

 

 (d) Further details of the 2001 Scheme are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018  

 

 

6. Auditors 

 

 The auditors, K.C. CHAN & CO PAC, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore, have 

expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signed by the Board of Directors 

  

  

  

  

  

Ling Yew Kong  

Director  

  

  

  

  

  

David Wang  

Director  

  

  

  

Dated: 07 June 2019  
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K.C. CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

 Office address: Telephone: (65) 6324 7718  

 105 Cecil Street Telefax     : (65) 6225 9110  

 #15-01 The Octagon    

 Singapore 069534   

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Qualified Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group 

and the Company as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and 

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position 

of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the 

Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of the financial performance, changes in 

equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date. 

 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

 

We have not received sufficient evidence to enable us to determine the expected credit loss for the following 

outstanding balances: 

 

i)   Loan receivables                      S$2,575,980 

ii)  Interest receivables                  S$1,489,191 

iii) Other receivables                     S$   159,347 

vi) Amount owing by subsidiary   S$4,677,191 

 

Accordingly, any potential loss which may arise have not included in the financial statements. In addition, we are 

unable to ascertain the reasonableness of interest income amounting S$620,957 recognised in statement of 

comprehensive income.  

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate 

Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting 

Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (CONT’D) 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement 

[set out on pages 2 to 4]. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting 

controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised 

use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 

preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (CONT’D) 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

 

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Group’s internal control. 

  

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

  

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

  

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

  

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 

for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiaries corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

K. C. CHAN & CO PAC  

Public Accountants and  

Chartered Accountants  

  

  

Singapore, 07 June 2019  
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

Note 2018 2017

S$ S$

Revenue 2 647,854          1,414,887       

Other income 3 125,923          120,085          

Employee benefits expenses 4 (796,460)         (953,939)         

Depreciation 7 (45,698)           (50,232)           

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries -                      (1,499,950)      

Impairment loss on unquoted investment -                      (481,771)         

Operating lease expenses (267,033)         (281,839)         

Impairment loss of receivables -                      (718,497)         

Reversal of impairment loss / (impairment loss) on club membership 13 22,000            (2,000)             

(Goodwill) / gain on bargain purchase of subsidiary (1)                    695,454          

Reversal of impairment loss on investment not consolidated in year 2016 -                      500,000          

Fair value loss on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (765,222)         (792,837)         

Exchange difference (68,374)           (47,568)           

Travelling and entertainment (4,420)             (37,264)           

Other expenses (98,344)           (128,669)         

Finance costs 6 (8,788)             (10,730)           

Share of loss of associate 8 (29)                  (35)                  

Loss before tax (1,258,592)      (2,274,905)      

Income tax expense 5 -                      -                      

Loss, net of tax (1,258,592)      (2,274,905)      

Other comprehensive income:

Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets 16 -                      421,568          

Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through other 

  comprehensive income  16 233,537          -                      

233,537          421,568          

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (1,025,055)      (1,853,337)      

Loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (1,258,592)      (1,477,935)      

Non-controlling interest -                      (796,970)         

(1,258,592)      (2,274,905)      

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (1,025,055)      (1,056,367)      

Non-controlling interest -                      (796,970)         

(1,025,055)      (1,853,337)      

Group

 
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment 7 96,403            142,877          96,403            142,877          

Investments in associates 8 63,030            63,058            1                     -                      

Investments in subsidiaries 9(a) -                      -                      59,868            59,868            

Amounts due from subsidiaries and 

   associates
10 990                 -                      4,708,102       5,178,730       

Available-for-sale financial assets 11(a) -                      1,336,784       -                      -                      

Investment securities 12 1,583,372       -                      -                      -                      

Total Non-Current Assets 1,743,795       1,542,719       4,864,374       5,381,475       

Current Assets

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or 

   loss
11(b) -                      1,325,773       -                      681,345          

Investment securities 12 1,152,677       -                      386,587          -                      

Other current assets 13 4,365,735       4,033,778       4,365,735       4,033,778       

Cash and cash equivalents 14 413,608          1,819,727       326,069          602,612          

Total Current Assets 5,932,020       7,179,278       5,078,391       5,317,735       

Total Assets 7,675,815       8,721,997       9,942,765       10,699,210     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 15 130,926,719   130,926,719   130,926,719   130,926,719   

Capital reserves 16 (37,267)           (270,804)         1,279,062       1,279,062       

Accumulated losses (124,323,052)  (123,064,460)  (124,060,278)  (123,327,474)  

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company 6,566,400       7,591,455       8,145,503       8,878,307       

Non-controlling interest -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total Equity 6,566,400       7,591,455       8,145,503       8,878,307       

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 17 129,455          168,766          129,455          168,766          

Total Non-Current Liabilities 129,455          168,766          129,455          168,766          

Current Liabilities

Other payables 18 940,649          924,400          1,628,496       1,614,761       

Finance lease liabilities 17 39,311            37,376            39,311            37,376            

Total Current Liabilities 979,960          961,776          1,667,807       1,652,137       

Total Liabilities 1,109,415       1,130,542       1,797,262       1,820,903       

Total Equity and Liabilities 7,675,815       8,721,997       9,942,765       10,699,210     

CompanyGroup

 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

Group

 Share 

Capital 

 Capital 

Reserves 

 Accumulated 

Losses  Total 

 Non-

Controlling 

Interest 

 Total 

Equity 

 S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 

Balance at 1 January 2017     130,926,719          (692,372)   (121,586,525)         8,647,822                       -         8,647,822 

Subsidiary not consolidated in year 2016 [Note 9(b)]                       -                       -                       -                       -            796,970            796,970 

Total comprehensive income for the year                       -            421,568       (1,477,935)       (1,056,367)          (796,970)       (1,853,337)

Balance at 31 December 2017     130,926,719          (270,804)   (123,064,460)         7,591,455                       -         7,591,455 

Total comprehensive income for the year                       -            233,537       (1,258,592)       (1,025,055)                       -       (1,025,055)

Balance at 31 December 2018     130,926,719            (37,267)   (124,323,052)         6,566,400                       -         6,566,400 

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year       (1,258,592)       (2,274,905)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and equipment              45,698              50,232 

Fair value loss on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss            765,222            792,837 

Gain on disposal of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss                       -          (498,165)

Goodwill / (gain on bargain purchase) of subsidiary                       1          (695,454)

Interest income          (642,714)          (703,238)

Interest expense                8,788              10,730 

Impairment loss of receivables                       -            718,497 

Reversal of impairment loss / (impairment loss) of club membership            (22,000)                2,000 

Exchange differences            (34,402)              22,320 

Impairment loss on unquoted investment                       -            481,771 

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment                   776                       - 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries                       -         1,498,950 

Share of loss of associate                     29                     35 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes       (1,137,194)          (594,390)

Decrease / (increase) in receivables            216,128          (695,026)

Increase / (decrease) in payables              42,649            (57,605)

Net cash used in operating activities          (878,417)       (1,347,021)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 431,784          2,144,023       

Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries -                      1,000              

Acquisition of subsidiary (1)                    -                      

Purchase of plant and equipment -                      (11,770)           

Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets -                      (236,326)         

Purchase of investment securities (1,036,961)      -                      

Purchase of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss -                      (1,398,514)      

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities          (605,178)            498,413 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 116,628          146,718          

Interest paid (8,788)             (10,730)           

Advances given to associate (990)                -                      

Changes in amount due to director -                      (27,024)           

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (37,376)           (36,200)           

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities              69,474              72,764 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents       (1,414,121)          (775,844)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year (Note 14)         1,819,727         2,572,857 

Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents                8,002              22,714 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year (Note 14)            413,608         1,819,727 

Group

 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

 

 (a) Basis of Preparation 

 

  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 

Standards (FRS) under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below.   

 

  The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the 

use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of 

judgement or complexity, or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the financial 

statements are disclosed in Note 24. 

 

  Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018 
   

  On 1 January 2018, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT 

FRS”) that are mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting 

policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective 

FRS and INT FRS. 

   

  The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the 

Group’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or 

prior financial years excepts for the following: 

 

  Adoption of FRS 109 Financial Instruments 

   

  The Group has adopted the new standard retrospectively from 1 January 2018, in line with the 

transition provision permitted under the standards. Comparatives for financial year ended 2017 are not 

restated and the Group has recognised any difference between the carrying amounts at 31 December 

2017 and 1 January 2018 in the opening retained earnings. 

   

  The accounting policies for financial instruments under FRS 109 are disclosed in Note 1(r). 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
  

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 

 

  Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018 (Cont’d) 
 

  Adoption of FRS 109 Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

    

  The effects on adoption of FRS 109 are as follows: 

 

 

 Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(*) 

 

Financial 

assets, 

Financial 

assets, at  

 

   
available-for-

sale  

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Retained 

earnings 

    (AFS) (FVOCI)  

 
   S$ S$ S$ 

       

 
 Balances at 31 December 2017 before 

adoption of FRS 109 

 

1,336,784 

 

- 

 

- 

    
   

 
 Reclassifying investments from AFS to 

FVOCI 

 

(1,336,784) 

 

1,336,784 

 

- 

    
   

 
 Balances at 1 January 2018 after adoption 

of FRS 109 

 

- 

 

1,336,784 

 

- 

 

  (*) Equity investments reclassified from AFS to FVOCI 

     

   The Group has elected to recognise changes in fair values of all its equity investments not held for 

trading and previously classified as AFS, in other comprehensive income. As a result, “Financial 

assets, available-for-sale”, of S$1,336,784 was reclassified to “Financial assets, at FVOCI” on 1 

January 2018.  
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (a) Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 

 

  New or amended Standards and Interpretation not yet effective in 2018 

   

  The following are the new or amended Standards and Interpretations issued that are not yet 

mandatory for application. The Group does not plan to early adopt these standards. 

 

 Effective for annual periods  

commencing on 

Description 

   

 1 January 2019  FRS 116 Leases 

   INT FRS 123 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

   Amendments to: 

  - FRS 28 Investments in associates (Long term interests in 

associates and joint ventures) 

  - FRS 19 Employee benefits (Plan amendments, curtailment 

or settlement) 

  - FRS 109 Financial instruments (Prepayment features with 

negative compensation) 

 1 January 2019  Annual improvement 2018 

  - FRS 103 Business combination (Previously held interest in 

a joint operation) 

  - FRS 111 Joint arrangement (Previously held interest in a 

joint operation) 

  - FRS 12 Income taxes (Income tax consequences of 

payments on financial instruments classified as equity) 

  - FRS 23 Borrowing costs (Borrowing costs eligible for 

capitalisation) 

  1 January 2020  Amendments to FRS 103 Business Combinations (Definition of 

a business) 

  1 January 2021  FRS 117 Insurance contracts 

  To be determined  FRS 110 Consolidated financial statement and FRS Investment 

in associates and joint venture (Sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture) 
 

  Except for FRS 116 and INT FRS 123, the directors expect that the adoption of the standards above 

will have no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. The nature 

of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 116 and INT FRS 123 are 

described below. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (a) Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 

 

  New or amended Standards and Interpretation not yet effective in 2018 (Cont’d) 
 

 FRS 116 Leases 

  

 FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on the statement of financial position to reflect the 

rights to use the leased assets and the associated obligations for lease payments as well as the 

corresponding interest expense and depreciation charges. The standard includes two recognition 

exemption for lessees - leases of ‘low value’ assets and short-term leases which do not contain any 

purchase options. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2019. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt the new 

standard on the required effective date. The Group expects the adoption of the new standard to result 

in an increase in total assets and total liabilities, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA) and gearing ratio. 
 

 INT FRS 123 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

  

 The interpretation explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax assets and 

liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. In particular, it discusses: 

 

 (i) how to determine the appropriate unit of account, and that each uncertain tax treatment should 

be considered separately or together as a group, depending on which approach better predicts 

the resolution of the uncertainty; 

 (ii) that the entity should assume a tax authority will examine the uncertain tax treatments and have 

full knowledge of all related information, i.e. that detection risk should be ignored; 

 (iii) that the entity should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax accounting when it is 

not probable that the tax authorities will accept the treatment; 

 (iv) that the impact of the uncertainty should be measured using either the most likely amount or the 

expected value method, depending on which method better predicts the resolution of the 

uncertainty, and 

 (v) that the judgements and estimates made must be reassessed whenever circumstances have 

changed or there is new information that affects the judgements. 

 

 The Group does not expect additional tax liability to be recognised arising from the uncertain tax 

positions on the adoption of the interpretation on 1 January 2019. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 

 (c) Taxes 

 

  (i) Current income tax 

    

   Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end 

of the reporting period, in Singapore where the Company operates and generates taxable 

income. 

    

   Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to 

items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 

situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 

provisions where appropriate.  

 

  (ii) Deferred tax 

    

   Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the 

reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 

financial reporting purposes.  

    

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:  

    

   - Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

    

   - In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Taxes (Cont’d) 

 

  (ii) Deferred tax (Cont’d) 

 

   Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward 

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:  

    

   - Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss; and  

    

   - In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 

extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 

future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 

utilised. 

 

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 

to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 

reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has 

become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

    

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.  

    

   Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 

loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business 

combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 

  (iii) Sales tax  

    

   Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:  

    

   - Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

    

   - Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (d) Plant and Equipment 

 

  All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, plant and 

equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 

follows: 

 

  Motor vehicle                                         : 8 years 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment : 3 - 5 years 

 

  The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

   

  The residual value, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and 

adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.  

   

  An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in 

profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

 

 (e) Lease 

 

  (i) Leasee 

 

   Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of 

the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial 

direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between 

the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of 

interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. 

Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 

   Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as 

a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 

  (ii) Lessor 

 

   Operating leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for 

rental income is set out in Note 1 (f)(iv). Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the 

period in which they are earned. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (f) Revenue 

 

  (i) Rendering of services 

    

   The Company is providing admin and secretarial services. 

    

   Revenue from services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the Group 

satisfies a performance obligation (PO) by transferring control of a promised service to the 

customer. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price allocated to 

the satisfied PO. 

    

   The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative 

standalone selling prices of the promised services. The individual standalone selling price of a 

service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable 

selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after 

allocating the transaction price to services with observable stand-alone selling prices. A 

discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the performance 

obligations if it relates specifically to those performance obligations. 

    

   Transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects to 

be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services. The transaction price may be 

fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a significant 

financing component. Consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction 

price if the Group does not receive a separate identifiable benefit from the customer. When 

consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to the extent 

that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur 

when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. 

    

   Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction 

of the PO. If a PO is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised based on the percentage of 

completion reflecting the progress towards complete satisfaction of that PO. 

 

  (ii) Dividend income 

    

   Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

 

  (iii) Interest income 

    

   Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal 

outstanding and the effective rate over period of maturity, when it is determined such income 

will accrue to the Group. 

 

  (iv) Rental income 

    

   Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the 

relevant agreements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (g) Employee Benefits 

 

  (i) Defined contribution plans 

    

   The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws in Singapore in 

which it has operations. The Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme 

in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution 

pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is 

performed. 

 

  (ii) Employee leave entitlement 

    

   Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to 

the employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before 

twelve months after the end of the reporting period is recognised for services rendered by 

employees up to the end of the reporting period. The Company does not allow employee leave 

entitlements to be carried forward for more than 12 months. 

 

 (h) Grants 

 

  Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 

and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value 

is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amortised to profit 

or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments. 

 

  Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an interest 

rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is regarded as 

additional government grant. 

 

 (i) Foreign Currency 

 

  The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$), which is also the Company’s 

functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 

included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

 

  Transactions and balances - Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional 

currency of the Group and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange 

rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 

fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 

was measured.  

   

  Consolidated adjustments - On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from the net 

investment in foreign operations and borrowings and other currency instruments designated as 

hedges of such investments are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign 

operation is disposed of, such currency translation differences are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

   

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 

the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (j) Borrowings Costs 

 

  All borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and 

other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 

 (k) Subsidiaries 

 

  A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Company. The Company controls an investee 

when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.  

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at 

cost less impairment losses. 

 

 (l) Associates 

 

  An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies. 

   

  The Group account for its investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method from 

the date on which it becomes an associate. 

 

  On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of 

the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is 

included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 

value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as 

income in the determination of the entity’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in 

which the investment is acquired. 

 

  Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost plus 

post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss 

reflects the share of results of the operations of the associates. Distributions received from joint 

ventures or associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change 

recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such 

changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 

between the Group and associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the 

associates or joint ventures. 

 

  When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or 

joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the associate. 

   

  After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 

additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associate. The Group determines at the end 

of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate 

or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and 

recognises the amount in profit or loss. 

   

  The financial statements of the associates are prepared as at 31 December 2018. Where necessary, 

adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

 



 

 

Page 22 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (m) Share Capital 

 

  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

   

  Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs 

directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 

 

 (n) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 

  The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 

Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  

 

  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 

not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the 

asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  

 

  Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are 

previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the 

impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous 

revaluation.  

 

  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If 

that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 

cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the 

asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 

 (o) Contingencies 

 

  A contingent liability is:  

 

  (i) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 

within the control of the Group; or 

 

(ii) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:  

 

 It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation; or  

 The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 

  A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the Group. 

 

  Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statements of financial position of the 

Group, except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present 

obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (p) Provisions 

 

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 

estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 

provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 

time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 

 (q) Club Membership 

 

  Club memberships were acquired separately and were initially measured at cost.  Subsequent to 

recognition, club memberships are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the cost may not be recoverable. The impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. 

 

 (r) Financial Instruments 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments before 1 January 2018 under FRS 39 is as follows: 

 

  (i) Financial Assets 

    

   Initial Recognition and Measurement 

    

   Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, 

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The 

Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case 

of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

   Subsequent Measurement 

    

   The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follow:  

 

   Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss  
    

   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and 

financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 

or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments 

entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships 

as defined by FRS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also 

classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments before 1 January 2018 under FRS 39 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Subsequent Measurement (Cont’d) 

 

   Loans and Receivables 
    

   Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans 

and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables 

are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 

   Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
    

   Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments 

classified as available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor 

designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which 

are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to 

needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions. 

    

   After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 

value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in 

other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses 

on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are 

recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 

adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 

    

   Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured 

at cost less impairment loss. 

 

   Derecognition 

    

   A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the 

asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between 

the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss 

that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

    

   All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the 

trade date i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way 

purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 

within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace 

concerned. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments before 1 January 2018 under FRS 39 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Impairment of Financial Assets 

    

   The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 

that a financial asset is impaired. 

 

   Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost 
    

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether 

objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 

significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 

determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 

financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 

with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets 

that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues 

to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

    

   If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised 

cost has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 

measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 

asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. 

    

   When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is 

reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to 

the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 

    

   To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets 

has incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

    

   If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does 

not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit 

or loss. 

 

   Financial Assets Carried At Cost 
    

   If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment 

where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 

issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount 

of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 

financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments before 1 January 2018 under FRS 39 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
    

   In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of 

impairment include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; (ii) information 

about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, 

market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost 

of the investment in equity instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value of the investment below its costs. Significant is to be evaluated against 

the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value 

has been below its original cost. 

    

   If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference 

between its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current 

fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from 

other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment loss in 

respect of equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value 

after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 

    

   In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on 

the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for 

impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and 

the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in 

profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying 

amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 

flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part 

of finance income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the 

increases can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss. 

 

  (ii) Financial Liabilities 

    

   Initial Recognition and Measurement 

    

   Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, 

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group 

determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of other financial 

liabilities, directly attributable transaction costs. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments before 1 January 2018 under FRS 39 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (ii) Financial Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

   Subsequent Measurement 

 

   The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follow: 

    

   Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
    

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 

trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value. Financial 

liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 

near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group 

that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded 

derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments. 

    

   Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial 

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

   Other Financial Liabilities 
    

   After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 

the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 

 

   Derecognition 

    

   A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 

cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 

lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 

and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 

recognised in profit or loss. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments from 1 January 2018 under FRS 109 is as follows: 

 

  (a) Financial Assets 

    

   The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: 

 Amortised cost; 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 

    

   The classification of debt instruments and equity investments depends on the Group’s business 

model for managing the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the 

financial assets. 

    

   Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 

whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

    

   The Group reclassifies debt instruments and equity investments when and only when its 

business model for managing those assets changes. 

 

   At initial recognition 

    

   At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus, in the case of a 

financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Transaction costs of financial assets 

carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

    

   At subsequent measurement 

 

   (i) Debt instruments 

     

    Debt instruments of the Group mainly comprise of cash and bank deposits, other 

receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries and associates. 

     

    There are three prescribed subsequent measurement categories, depending on the 

Group’s business model in managing the assets and the cash flow characteristic of the 

assets. The Group managed these group of financial assets by collecting the contractual 

cash flow and these cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest. 

Accordingly, these group of financial assets are measured at amortised cost subsequent 

to initial recognition. 

     

    A gain or loss on debt investments that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is 

not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets are recognised 

using the effective interest rate method. 

     

    The Group assesses on forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with 

its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. 

     

    For trade receivables, the Group applied the simplified approach permitted by the FRS 

109, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 

the receivables. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments from 1 January 2018 under FRS 109 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (a) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   At subsequent measurement (Cont’d) 

 

   (i) Debt instruments (Cont’d) 

     

    For cash and cash equivalents and other receivables, the general 3 stage approach is 

applied. Credit loss allowance is based on 12-month expected credit loss if there is no 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the assets. If there is a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, lifetime expected credit loss 

will be calculated and recognised. 

 

   (ii) Equity investments 

     

    The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair values. Equity 

instruments are classified as FVPL with movements in their fair values recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which the changes arise and presented in “fair value (loss) / 

gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, except for those equity 

securities which are not held for trading.  

     

    The Group has elected to recognise the changes in fair value of some equity investments 

not held for trading in other comprehensive income as these are strategic investments and 

the Group considered this to be more relevant. Movement in fair values of investments 

classified as FVOCI are presented as “fair value gain and losses” in Other 

Comprehensive Income. Dividends from equity investments are recognised in profit or 

loss as “dividend income”. 

     

    Regular way purchases and sales of these financial assets are recognised on trade date – 

the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

     

    On disposal, the differences between the carrying amount and sales proceed is 

recognised in profit or loss if there was no election made to recognise fair value changes 

in other comprehensive income. If there was an election made, any difference between 

the carrying amount and the sale proceed amount would be recognised in other 

comprehensive income and transferred to retained earnings along with the amount 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that asset.   
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  The accounting for financial instruments from 1 January 2018 under FRS 109 is as follows (Cont’d): 

 

  (b) Financial Liabilities 

 

   (i) Trade and other payables 

     

    Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 

Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current 

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of 

the business, if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

     

    Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

   (ii) Borrowings 

     

    Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 

right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case they 

are presented as non-current liabilities. 

     

    Borrowings are initially recognised at fair values (net of transaction costs) and 

subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 

transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period 

of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

 

  (c) Offsetting Financial Instruments 

 

   Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 

financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to 

settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations 

 

  (i) Basis of Consolidation 

 

   The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the 

subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for 

the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 

transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 

intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.  

 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  

 

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a 

deficit balance. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d) 

 

   A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for 

as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 

i. de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their 

carrying amounts at the date when control is lost;  

 

ii. de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;  

 

iii. de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;  

 

iv. recognises the fair value of the consideration received;  

 

v. recognises the fair value of any investment retained;  

 

vi. recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;  

 

vii. re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 

  (ii) Business Combinations and Goodwill  

 

   Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.  Identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 

fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the 

periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value 

at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 

which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.   

 

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in 

the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition 

date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their 

acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another FRS.  

 

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 

combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value 

of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of 

the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the 

latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit 

or loss on the acquisition date.  

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 

cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations (Cont’d) 

 

  (ii) Business Combinations and Goodwill (Cont’d) 

 

   For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from 

the acquisition date, allocated to the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit 

from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 

acquiree are assigned to those units.   

 

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment 

annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash generating unit may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-

generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. 

 

  (iii) Acquisitions from Entities under Common Control 

 

   Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control 

of the shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred 

at the beginning of the earliest comparative year presented or, if later, at the date that common 

control was established; for this purpose, comparatives are restated. The assets and liabilities 

acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling 

shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired 

entities are added to the same components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is 

recognised directly in equity. 

 

  (iv) Loss of control 

 

   Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any 

Non-Controlling Interest (NCI) and other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any 

surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group 

retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the 

date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as 

an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

 

  (v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 

   Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses from 

intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated 

against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses 

are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 

evidence of impairment. 

 

  (vi) Subsidiary in the separate financial statements 

 

   Investments in subsidiary are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 

less accumulated impairment losses. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (t) Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests 

 

  Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 

owners of the Company. Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result 

in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying 

amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 

relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 

interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

2. Revenue 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Gain on disposal of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss -                           499,165               

Capital distribution -                           196,428               

Interest income 642,714               703,238               

Dividend income 5,140                   1,250                   

Rental income -                           14,806                 

647,854               1,414,887            

Group

 
 

3. Other Income 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Water, electricity and internet income -                           3,116                   

Others 125,923               116,969               

125,923               120,085               

Group

 
 

4. Employee Benefits Expense 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Staff salaries and bonus 677,504               810,370               

Directors' fees 60,000                 80,000                 

Employer's contribution to Central Provident Fund 51,656                 58,881                 

Other staff allowances and expenses 7,300                   4,688                   

796,460               953,939               

Group
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5. Income Tax Expense 
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Tax expense attributable to loss is made of:

- Based on result of the financial year                            - -                           

Group

 
 

 

The income tax expense on the results for the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined 

by applying the Singapore standard rate of income tax to loss before tax due to the following factors:  
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Loss before tax            (1,258,592)            (2,274,905)

Tax at applicable tax rate of 17% (2017: 17%)               (213,961)               (386,733)

Adjustments for:-

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses                 162,902                 636,665 

Tax effect on non-taxable income                 (92,831)               (186,863)

Tax effect on exempt amount                        (23)                   (6,501)

Tax effect on unrecognised deferred tax 143,913               (50,917)                

Tax effect on tax incentives -                           (5,651)                  

Tax expense per consolidated statement of comprehensive income                            -                            - 

Group

 
 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 

taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits. 
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Unutilised tax losses 10,356,988          8,707,118            

Group

 
 

 The unutilised tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profits of the Group subject to there 

being no substantial change in the shareholders as required by the relevant provisions of the Singapore 

Income Tax Act. This amount is subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and 

compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation. 
 

6. Finance Costs 
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Interest on finance lease 8,788                   10,730                 

Group
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7. Plant and Equipment 

 

Motor vehicle

Furniture, 

fittings and 

office equipment  Total 

S$ S$ S$

Group and Company

Cost

At 01.01.2017 337,566               181,436               519,002               

Additions -                           11,770                 11,770                 

Disposals -                           (12,455)                (12,455)                

At 31.12.2017 337,566               180,751               518,317               

Additions -                           -                           -                           

Disposals -                           (2,851)                  (2,851)                  

At 31.12.2018 337,566               177,900               515,466               

Accumulated Depreciation

At 01.01.2017 167,763               169,900               337,663               

Depreciation for the year 42,196                 8,036                   50,232                 

Disposals -                           (12,455)                (12,455)                

At 31.12.2017 209,959               165,481               375,440               

Depreciation for the year 42,195                 3,503                   45,698                 

Disposals -                           (2,075)                  (2,075)                  

At 31.12.2018 252,154               166,909               419,063               

Net Carrying Value

At 31.12.2018 85,412                 10,991                 96,403                 

At 31.12.2017 127,607               15,270                 142,877               

 
 

 The carrying amount of motor vehicle held under finance leases is S$85,412 (2017: S$127,607) at the 

reporting date. 

 

8. Investments In Associates 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Unquoted equity, at cost 82,991                 82,990                 1                          -                           

Accumulated impairment loss (19,693)                (19,693)                -                           -                           

Accumulated share of results of 

  associates (268)                     (239)                     -                           -                           

63,030                 63,058                 1                          -                           

CompanyGroup
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8. Investments In Associates (Cont’d) 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Movement in impairment loss

At the beginning and the end of the 

  financial year (19,693)                (19,693)                -                           -                           

CompanyGroup

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Movement in share of results of associates

At the beginning of the financial year (239)                     (204)                     -                           -                           

Current year share of loss (29)                       (35)                       -                           -                           

At the end of the financial year (268)                     (239)                     -                           -                           

CompanyGroup

 
 

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group disposed 50% of its equity interest in Firstlink 

Capital Management Pte. Ltd. to a third party and thereon became an associate of the Group. 

 

 During the financial year, the Group acquired 33.33% of its equity interest in Fonda Global Engineering (M) 

Sdn Bhd and thereon became an associate of the Group. 
 

 The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates, not adjusted for the proportion of 

ownership interest held by the Group, and accounted under equity method are as follow: 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Total assets 129,048               129,107               

Total liabilities                      (989)                            - 

Net assets 128,059               129,107               

Loss for the financial year (1,049)                  (71)                       

Group

 
 

 In year 2018, the Group has not recognised its share of results of its associates amounting to S$989 because 

the Group’s cumulative share of losses exceeds its interest in those associates and the Group has no 

obligation in respect of those losses. As at report’s date, the cumulative unrecognised losses amounted to 

S$989.     

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Page 37 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

8. Investments In Associates (Cont’d) 

 

 Details of the associates are as follows: 

 

 Name of Associates 

(Country of Incorporation/ Business) 

Percentage of Equity Held Principal 

Activities 

  2018 2017  

     

 Associates (Unquoted) Held by the Company    

     

 Firstlink Capital Management Pte. Ltd.¹ - 50% Dormant 

 (Republic of Singapore)    

     

 Fonda Global Engineering (M) Sdn Bhd² 33.33% - Dormant 

 (Malaysia)    

     

 Associate (Unquoted) Held by Firstlink Investment 

Advisory Pte Ltd 
   

     

 Keluarga International Pte. Ltd.¹ 49% 49% Dormant 

 

 ¹ Not required to be audited under Section 205B of the Singapore Companies Act. 

 ² Not required to be audited under country of incorporation. 

 

9(a). Investments In Subsidiaries 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Unquoted equity investments, at cost

At the beginning of the financial year 5,500,011            5,500,111            

Additions 1                          -                           

Disposals (500,000)              (100)                     

At the end of the financial year 5,000,012            5,500,011            

Company

 
Allowance for impairment loss

At the beginning of the financial year (5,440,143)           (5,440,243)           

Impairment made (1)                         -                           

Disposals 500,000               100                      

At the end of the financial year (4,940,144)           (5,440,143)           

59,868                 59,868                 
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9(a). Investments In Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

 

 Details of subsidiaries are as follow:  

   

 Name of Subsidiaries  

 (Country of Incorporation/ Business) Percentage of Equity Held  Principal Activities 

  2018 2017  

     

 Subsidiaries (Unquoted) Held by the Company    

     

 Exquisite Concierge Pte. Ltd.¹ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Glopeak Land Pte Ltd³ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Lease of office space 

     

 Glopeak Properties And Hotels Pte Ltd¹ 

 (Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Singatronics Investment Pte Ltd³ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Investment holding 

     

 Firstlink Energy Pte Ltd¹ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Firstlink Capital Pte Ltd³ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Investment holding 

     

 Firstlink Investment Advisory Pte Ltd¹ 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Firstlink Capital Management Pte. Ltd.¹ 4 

(Republic of Singapore) 

75% - Dormant 

     

 Cove Pacific Development Limited² 

(British Virgin Islands) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd.5 

(Republic of Singapore) 

- 60% Investment holding 

 

 ¹ Not required to be audited under Section 205B of the Singapore Companies Act. 

² Not required to be audited under country of incorporation. 

³ Audited by K.C. Chan & Co PAC 
4 On 27 June 2018, the Company acquired additional 25 ordinary shares representing 25% of the equity 

interest of Firstlink Capital Management Pte. Ltd. and it becomes the subsidiary of the Company.   
5 Struck off on 20 June 2018. 
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9(b). On 1 February 2016, the Company acquired equity interest in Portico Group of 37.5%. On 1 December 

2016, the Group increased its interest in Portico Group from 37.5% to 60%. The cost of investment in the 

Portico Group was fully impaired during the financial year ended 31 December 2016. Portico Group 

comprised of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its 100% owned subsidiaries, Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and 

Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. (collectively known as the “Portico Group”). 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for financial year 31 December 2017 included the 

financial results and financial position of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd.. Adjustments for non-inclusive of 

Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. in financial year 31 December 2016 were taken up into the year 2017’s financial 

statements.   

 

The Management is of the view that the consolidated financial results and financial position of Hosted 

Patio Pte. Ltd. (“HPPL”) and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. (“PPPL”) does not provide practical value to the 

shareholders as the Group loss its control of HPPL and PPPL when HPPL and PPPL were under 

insolvency proceeding during the year.  Since then, the Group ceased to have the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of HPPL and PPPL. The financial results of HPPL and PPPL up to the date 

the Group loss of control were not taken up into the Group’s financial statements. 
 

10. Amounts Due From Subsidiaries and Associates  
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Non-current

Non-trade 990                      96,817                 21,583,149          22,813,777          

Impairment loss -                           (96,817)                (16,875,047)         (17,635,047)         

990                      -                           4,708,102            5,178,730            

CompanyGroup

 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Movement in impairment loss

At the beginning of the 

  financial year
(96,817)                -                           (17,635,047)         (17,425,047)         

Additions -                           (96,817)                -                           (210,000)              

Written-off 96,817                 -                           760,000               -                           

At the end of the financial year -                           (96,817)                (16,875,047)         (17,635,047)         

CompanyGroup

 
 

 The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed 

terms of repayment and represent quasi-equity loans granted by the Company. As such, the amounts are 

stated at cost. 
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11(a). Available-For-Sale Financial Assets 
 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Quoted equity shares, at fair value -                       145,800               

Unquoted equity securities, at cost -                       1,190,984            

-                       1,336,784            

Group

 
 

11(b). Financial Assets, at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Quoted equity shares, at fair value                          -                1,325,773 -                       681,345               

Group Company

 
 

12. Investment Securities 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Fair value through profit or loss

Quoted equity shares 1,152,677            -                       386,587               -                       

Fair value through other 

  comprehensive income

Quoted equity shares 575,015               -                       -                       -                       

Unquoted equity securities 1,008,357            -                       -                       -                       

1,583,372            -                       -                       -                       

Group Company
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13. Other Current Assets 
 

 2018  2017  2018  2017 

S$ S$ S$ S$

Advances receivables from 

   associate -                           60                        -                           60                        

Club memberships (Note A) 60,000                 38,000                 60,000                 38,000                 

Deposits 63,611                 65,797                 63,611                 65,797                 

Interest receivables (Note B, E) 1,489,191            998,840               1,489,191            998,840               

Prepayments 5,275                   3,483                   5,275                   3,483                   

Other receivables (Note D, E) 171,678               183,101               171,678               183,101               

Loan receivables (Note B, E) 2,345,120            2,514,197            2,345,120            2,514,197            

Loan receivables (Note C) 230,860               230,300               230,860               230,300               

             4,365,735              4,033,778              4,365,735              4,033,778 

Group Company

 
 

 Note A: 
 

Club memberships are stated net of impairment loss of S$180,000 (2017: S$202,000). An amount of 

S$22,000 was reversal of impairment loss from (2017: S$2,000 was written off) profit or loss during the 

financial year.  
 

 Note B: 
 

Loan 1: Loan and interest receivable from China Environment Ltd (CEL) amounting to S$2,345,120 and 

S$1,391,758 (included in S$1,489,191) respectively is secured by given authority to procure the Chargor to 

execute and deliver a registration / deed of charge in respect of 100% of the issued shares of Fujian 

Dongyuan Environment Protection Co., Ltd. and Anhui Dongyuan Environmental Co., Ltd (an indirect 

100% owned company by CEL) with an interest rate of 24% charged per annum and repayment extended to 

20 January 2020 (2017: 20 January 2020).  
 

Pursuant to the loan agreement, the loan carries a conversion option that allows (i) the loan to be converted 

into ordinary shares of the Borrower at the average of the last dealt prices of the Borrower’s shares 

immediately preceding the date of the conversion or (ii) to purchase the assets under charge. 
 

 Note C: 
 

Loan to Paul Leong Jee Hong is secured by either way of lump sum cash payment or by way of transfer of 

Malaysian-listed shares equivalent to the value of RM 1,000,000 with an interest of 20% (2017: 20%) per 

annum and repayable on 31 December 2018 (2017: 31 December 2018). 
 

Note D: 
 

Other receivables include administrative and secretarial services receivable from CEL amounting to 

S$60,000.  
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13. Other Current Assets (Cont’d) 
 

 Note E: 
 

According to CEL's general announcement of SGX dated 13 March 2019, CEL's wholly owned subsidiary 

Fujian Dongyuan Environmental Protection Co., Ltd (“FJDY”) may not able to repay any outstanding 

balances due to Bank of China Longyan (“BOC”) and maybe involuntarily wind up by BOC as a result. The 

PRC Court has auctioned off the land use rights and property assets of Anhui Dongyuan Environmental 

Protection Co., Ltd (“AHDY”) which had been pledged as security for the estimated RMB 70 million in loan 

principal with interest due to BOC on 22 February 2019 for RMB 60.56 million. BOC will inform CEL on 

the balance amount owing on the loan after the PRC Court has distributed the auction proceeds. The 

management believes no impairment loss is required for the outstanding balances due by CEL amounting to 

S$3,796,878. 

 

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Cash at bank 412,925               1,815,727            325,386               598,612               

Cash on hand 683                      4,000                   683                      4,000                   

413,608               1,819,727            326,069               602,612               

Group Company

 
 

 Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

 

15. Share Capital 

 

 Number of 

shares   
S$

 Number of 

shares   
S$

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

At 1 January and 31 December 492,313,121        130,926,719                 492,313,121 130,926,719        

 2017  2018 

Group and Company

 
 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 

ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 
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15. Share Capital (Cont’d) 

 

 
Share options 

 

The Firstlink Investments Corporation Limited (2001) Share Option Scheme (the “2001 Scheme”) of the 

Company was approved by shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 May 2001. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of options granted under the 2001 Scheme which remained 

outstanding was 900,000 (2017: 900,000). These options have exercise prices of S$0.072. The date of 

expiry of the option is on 29 April 2020. 

 

Duration and size of scheme 

 

The 2001 Scheme shall be in force for a maximum period of 10 years from 17 May 2001. The aggregate 

number of shares in respect of options that may be granted on any date, when added the number of shares 

issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the 2001 Scheme, shall not exceed 15% of the 

issued share capital of the Company on the day immediately preceding the date of grant of the options. 

 

Eligibility of participant 

 

Group employees and non-executive directors are eligible to participate in the 2001 Scheme. 

 

No controlling shareholders and their associates shall be eligible to participate in the 2001 Scheme. 

Pursuant to the terms under 2001 Scheme, a controlling shareholder is a person who exercises control over 

the Company and is defined as a person who controls directly or indirectly a shareholding of 15% or more 

of the Company’s issued share capital. 

 

Subscription price of options 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the 2001 Scheme, there are two types of options namely “Discounted Options” and 

“Non-discounted Options”. For Discounted Options, the maximum discount shall be 20% of the average of 

the last dealt prices per share of the Company on the Singapore Exchange for a period of five consecutive 

market days (“Market Price”) immediately prior to the relevant date of grant of options. For Non-

discounted Options, the exercise price shall be equal to the market Price as at the date of grant of options. 

 

 
Exercise of options 

 

The vesting period for share options granted at a discount is two years while for share options granted at no 

discount, the vesting period is one year. Once the options are vested, they are exercisable for a contractual 

term of 4 years and 9 years for non-executive directors and Group employees respectively. The option may 

be exercised in full or in part in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the exercise 

price. 

 

Movement in the number of ordinary shares outstanding under the options at the end of the financial year 

and their exercise price are as follows: 
 

Date of 

grant 

No. of 

ordinary 

shares under 

options 

granted 

Balance at 

01 January 

2018 

Cancelled/ 

rejected/ 

lapsed 

Balance at 

31 

December 

2018 

Original 

exercise 

price 

per 

share 

Adjusted 

exercise 

price per 

share 

Date of 

expiry 

30.04.2010 1,820,000 900,000 - 900,000 0.072 - 29.04.2020 
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15. Share Capital (Cont’d) 

 

 Fair value of share options 

 

The fair value of options granted is determined using the Trinomial valuation model, taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. No share option expense was charged to the profit 

or loss during the financial year. The significant inputs to the model were: 

 

(i)   Option life of the outstanding options 

(ii)  Vesting period of one year from date of grant of the option 

(iii) Expected volatility of 84.33% 

(iv) Risk-free interest rate of 1.084% and 1.197% 

(v)  Forfeiture rate representing the percentage of options which is expected to be forfeited due to the grantee 

leaving the Company in a year 

 

16. Capital Reserves 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Share option reserve              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062 

Fair value reserve            (1,316,329)            (1,549,866)                          -                            -   

                (37,267)               (270,804)              1,279,062              1,279,062 

CompanyGroup

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Movement of reserve:

Share option reserve

At the beginning and the end of the 

  financial year              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062 

Fair value reserve

At the beginning of the financial year            (1,549,866)            (1,971,434)                          -                            -   

Fair value gain                 233,537                 421,568                          -                            -   

At the end of the financial year            (1,316,329)            (1,549,866)                          -                            -   

Group Company
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17. Finance Lease Liabilities 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Minimum lease payments payable:

   - Due within one year                   46,164                   46,164                   46,164                   46,164 

   - Due within two to five years                 138,404                 184,568                 138,404                 184,568 

                184,568                 230,732                 184,568                 230,732 

Finance charges                 (15,802)                 (24,590)                 (15,802)                 (24,590)

Total                 168,766                 206,142                 168,766                 206,142 

CompanyGroup 

 
 

 The present values of finance lease liabilities are analysed as follow: 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Present value:

   - Due within one year                   39,311                   37,376                   39,311                   37,376 

   - Due within two to five years                 129,455                 168,766                 129,455                 168,766 

Total 168,766               206,142               168,766               206,142               

CompanyGroup 

 
 

 The effective interest for finance leases is 5.01% (2017: 5.01%) per annum. Finance lease liabilities of the 

Group are effectively secured over the motor vehicle stated in Note 7, as the legal title is retained by the 

lessor and will be transferred to the Group upon full settlement of the finance lease liabilities. 

 

18. Other Payables 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

 S$  S$  S$  S$ 

Amount due to subsidiary
2 -                           -                           697,580               700,047               

Sundry payables 12,353                 51,604                 12,353                 51,604                 

Loan from director
1 793,600               820,000               793,600               820,000               

Accrued operating expenses 132,196               50,296                 122,463               40,610                 

Advance billing for services 2,500                   2,500                   2,500                   2,500                   

940,649               924,400               1,628,496            1,614,761            

CompanyGroup

 
 

 1 Loan from director is intended for the purpose as part of the loan extended to China Environment Ltd under 

Note 13. The loan is unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon the receipt of the loan repayment from 

China Environment Ltd. 

 

 2 The amount due to subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 
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19. (a)    Related Parties Transactions 

 

  During the year, the Group and the Company had transactions with its related parties which were 

carried out on terms agreed between the parties concerned not disclosed elsewhere in the financial 

statements as follow: 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Subsidiaries

Expenses of subsidiaries paid on behalf by the Company 362,067               343,074               

Expenses charged by subsidiaries 270,559               270,367               

Advances given to subsidiaries 16,490                 847,352               

Repayment made by subsidiaries 577,150               1,430,000            

Company

 
 

 (b)    Key Management Compensation 

 

 

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling activities of the Company. The directors and executive officers of 

the Company are considered as key management personnel of the Group. 

 

During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its director which is controlled, jointly 

controlled or significantly influenced by Group’s key management personnel based on terms agreed 

between relevant parties: 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 455,524               560,171               

Depreciation of motor vehicle for director's use 42,196                 42,196                 

Employer's contribution to defined contribution plans, including 17,340                 17,340                 

   Central Provident Fund

Directors' fees 60,000                 80,000                 

Group and Company
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20. Lease Commitments 

 

 Operating lease commitments – where the Group is the lessee 

  

 The Group leases office space from third party under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The 

future aggregate minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating lease contracted for, are as 

follow:- 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Due within one year 72,790                 249,564               

Due after 1 year but within 5 years -                           72,790                 

72,790                 322,354               

Group

 
 

21. Capital Commitment 

 

 In year 2012, the Group entered into a contract to make capital contributions of S$1,265,300 (equivalent to 

US$1,000,000) towards a limited partnership fund. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the remaining capital contribution commitment amounted to approximately 

S$54,650 (2017: S$235,250). 

 

22. Financial Risk Management 

 

 The Group’s and the Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks from its operation. The key 

financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, capital risk and market risk (including foreign currency risk, 

price risk and interest rate risk). 

 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which 

are executed by the management team. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, 

the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. 

 

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks 

and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. There has been no change to the 

Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks. 

 

 (a) Credit Risk 

 

  Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractually obligation resulting in a 

loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from other receivables and 

amounts due from subsidiaries and associates. For other financial assets (including cash and cash 

equivalents), the Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating 

counterparties. 

   

  The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The Group performs 

ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a 

collateral. 

   

  The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Credit Risk (Cont’d) 

 

  The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when internal and/or external 

information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to be received, which could include default of 

contractual payments due for more than 90 days, default of interest due for more than 90 days or there 

is significant difficulty of the counterparty. 

 

  To minimise credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group’s credit risk grading to 

categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is 

supplied by publicly available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its 

major customers and other debtors. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-

looking information which includes the following indicators: 

   

   Internal credit rating;  

 External credit rating; 

 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 

that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations; 

 Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor; 

 Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 

 Significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the debtor, including 

changes in the payment status of debtors in the group and changes in the operating results of 

the debtor. 

   

  Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more 

than 90 days past due in making contractual payment. 

   

  The Group categorises a receivable for potential write-off when a debtor fails to make contractual 

payments more than 120 days past due. Financial assets are written off when there is evidence 

indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of 

recovery. 

   

  The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories: 
 

  Category  

 

Definition of category Basis for recognition of 

expected credit losses (ECL) 

     

  I Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 

have any past-due amounts. 

12-month ECL 

     

  II Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. 

Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

     

  III Amount is >60 days past due or there is evidence 

indicating the asset is credit-impaired (in default). 

Lifetime ECL – credit impaired 

     

  IV There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in 

severe financial difficulty and the debtor has no 

realistic prospect of recovery. 

Amount is written off 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Credit Risk (Cont’d) 

 

  The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets, as well as 

maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating categories: 
 

  
 31 December 2018 

  Group Note Category 

12-month or 

lifetime ECL 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

      

S$ S$ S$ 

  

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries and 

associates 10 * 12-month ECL 990 - 990 

         

  

Loans, interest and 

other receivables 13 I 12-month ECL 4,236,849 - 4,236,849 

         

  

Cash and cash 

equivalents 14 I 12-month ECL 413,608 - 413,608 

      

 4,651,447  - 4,651,447 

  

       

   01 January 2018 

  
Group Note Category 

12-month or 

lifetime ECL 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

      

S$ S$ S$ 

  

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries and 

associates 10 * 12-month ECL 96,817 (96,817) - 

         

  

Loans, interest and 

other receivables 13 I 12-month ECL 3,926,438 - 3,926,438 

         

  

Cash and cash 

equivalents 14 I 12-month ECL 1,819,727 - 1,819,727 

      

 5,842,982 (96,817) 5,746,165 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Credit Risk (Cont’d) 
 

  
 31 December 2018 

  Company Note Category 

12-month or 

lifetime ECL 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

      

S$ S$ S$ 

  

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries and 

associates 10 * 12-month ECL 21,583,149 (16,875,047) 4,708,102 

         

  

Loans, interest and 

other receivables 13 I 12-month ECL 4,236,849 - 4,236,849 

         

  

Cash and cash 

equivalents 14 I 12-month ECL 326,069 - 326,069 

      

 26,146,067 (16,875,047) 9,271,020 

            01 January 2018 

  
Company Note Category 

12-month or 

lifetime ECL 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

      

S$ S$ S$ 

  

Amounts due from 

subsidiaries and 

associates 10 * 12-month ECL 22,813,777 (17,635,047) 5,178,730 

         

  

Loans, interest and 

other receivables 13 I 12-month ECL 3,926,438 - 3,926,438 

         

  

Cash and cash 

equivalents 14 I 12-month ECL 602,612 - 602,612 

      

 27,342,827 (17,635,047) 9,707,780 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Credit Risk (Cont’d) 

 

  *Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries and associates 

   

  The Group held non-trade receivables from its amounts due from subsidiaries and associates as stated 

in Note 10 to the financial statements. These balances are amounts lent to subsidiaries and associates to 

satisfy funding requirements. Impairment on these balances has been measured on the 12-month 

expected loss basis. Information regarding loss allowance movement of is as follow. 

 

   
2018 

   

12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL – 

not credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL – 

credit impaired Total 

   S$ S$ S$ S$ 

  Group     

  

Gross carrying amount 990 - - 990 

  

Loss allowance - - - - 

  

Carrying amount 990 - - 990 

 

   
2018 

   

12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL – 

not credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL – 

credit impaired Total 

   S$ S$ S$ S$ 

  Company     

  

Gross carrying amount 21,583,149 - - 21,583,149 

  

Loss allowance (16,875,047) - - (16,875,047) 

  

Carrying amount 4,708,102 - - 4,708,102 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Credit Risk (Cont’d) 

 

  Cash and cash equivalents 

   

  The Group held cash and cash equivalents as stated in note 14. The cash and cash equivalents are held 

with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated AA- to AA+, based on independent 

rating agencies. 

   

  Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and 

reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents 

have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of the 

allowance on cash and cash equivalents was negligible. 

 

  Loan, interest and other receivables 

   

  The Group assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for the 

future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been 

no significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. Accordingly, 

the Group measured the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL and determined that the ECL 

is insignificant. 

   

  In 2017, the impairment of the financial assets was assessed based on the incurred loss impairment 

model. Individual receivables which were known to be uncollectible were written off by reducing the 

carrying amount directly. The receivables were assessed collectively, to determine whether there was 

objective evidence that an impairment had been incurred but not yet identified. 

 

 (b) Liquidity Risk 

 

  The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to enable 

the Group to support its normal operations. 

 

  The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities. 

 

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows

Within 1 

year

Within 2 to 5 

years

S$ S$ S$ S$

Group

2018

Other payables 940,649          940,649          940,649          -                      

Finance lease liabilities 168,766          184,568          46,164            138,404          

1,109,415       1,125,217       986,813          138,404          

2017

Other payables 924,400          924,400          924,400          -                      

Finance lease liabilities 206,142          230,732          46,164            184,568          

1,130,542       1,155,132       970,564          184,568          

Cash flows
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (b) Liquidity Risk (Cont’d) 

 

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows

Within 1 

year

Within 2 to 5 

years

S$ S$ S$ S$

Company

2018

Other payables 1,628,496       1,628,496       1,628,496       -                      

Finance lease liabilities 168,766          184,568          46,164            138,404          

1,797,262       1,813,064       1,674,660       138,404          

2017

Other payables 1,614,761       1,614,761       1,614,761       -                      

Finance lease liabilities 206,142          230,732          46,164            184,568          

1,820,903       1,845,493       1,660,925       184,568          

Cash flows

 
 

 (c) Market Risk 

 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates 

which will affect the Group’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 

control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 

 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders.  

 

 (i) Foreign Currency risk 

   

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on its investments and interest income 

denominated in foreign currencies including Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”), British Pound 

(“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and Chinese Yuan (“RMB”). As a result, the Group is 

exposed to movements in foreign currencies exchange rates. However, it is not the Group’s 

policy to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for hedging and speculative 

purposes. 

 

At the end of the financial year, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than the Group’s and the Company’s functional currency are 

as follows: 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Market Risk (Cont’d) 
 

 (i) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Amounts due from associates -                      990                 -                      -                      -                      990                 

Investment securities 1,154,509       537,415          35,768            1,008,357       -                      2,736,049       

Other current assets 1,081,524       328,293          -                      -                      2,950,643       4,360,460       

Cash and cash equivalents 391,957          21,651            -                      -                      -                      413,608          

2,627,990       888,349          35,768            1,008,357       2,950,643       7,511,107       

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 144,549          -                      -                      -                      793,600          938,149          

Finance lease liabilities 168,766          -                      -                      -                      -                      168,766          

313,315          -                      -                      -                      793,600          1,106,915       

Net assets 2,314,675       888,349          35,768            1,008,357       2,157,043       6,404,192       

Less: Net financial assets denominated in the respective entities'

  functional currencies (2,314,675)      -                      -                      -                      -                      (2,314,675)      

Net currency exposure -                      888,349          35,768            1,008,357       2,157,043       4,089,517       

Exposure based on 7% -                      62,184            2,504              70,585            150,993          286,266          

Group

2018
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Market Risk (Cont’d) 
 

 (i) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 145,800          -                      -                      1,190,984       -                      1,336,784       

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,221,338       82,250            22,185            -                      -                      1,325,773       

Other current assets 973,099          281,437          -                      -                      2,775,759       4,030,295       

Cash and cash equivalents 702,253          1,117,474       -                      -                      -                      1,819,727       

3,042,490       1,481,161       22,185            1,190,984       2,775,759       8,512,579       

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 101,900          -                      -                      -                      820,000          921,900          

Finance lease liabilities 206,142          -                      -                      -                      -                      206,142          

308,042          -                      -                      -                      820,000          1,128,042       

Net assets 2,734,448       1,481,161       22,185            1,190,984       1,955,759       7,384,537       

Less: Net financial assets denominated in the respective entities'

  functional currencies (2,734,448)      -                      -                      -                      -                      (2,734,448)      

Net currency exposure -                      1,481,161       22,185            1,190,984       1,955,759       4,650,089       

Exposure based on 7% -                      103,681          1,553              83,369            136,903          325,506          

Group

2017
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Market Risk (Cont’d) 
 

 (i) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 

  and associates 4,707,112       990                 -                      4,708,102       

Investment securities 367,898          18,689            -                      386,587          

Other current assets 1,081,524       328,293          2,950,643       4,360,460       

Cash and cash equivalents 326,069          -                      -                      326,069          

6,482,603       347,972          2,950,643       9,781,218       

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 832,396          -                      793,600          1,625,996       

Finance lease liabilities 168,766          -                      -                      168,766          

1,001,162       -                      793,600          1,794,762       

Net assets 5,481,441       347,972          2,157,043       7,986,456       

Less: Net financial assets

  denominated in the Company's

  functional currency (5,481,441)      -                      -                      (5,481,441)      

Net currency exposure -                      347,972          2,157,043       2,505,015       

Exposure based on 7% -                      24,358            150,993          175,351          

Company

2018
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Market Risk (Cont’d) 
 

 (i) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 

  and associates 5,178,730       -                      -                      5,178,730       

Financial assets at fair value through 

  profit or loss 648,445          32,900            -                      681,345          

Other current assets 973,099          281,437          2,775,759       4,030,295       

Cash and cash equivalents 602,612          -                      -                      602,612          

7,402,886       314,337          2,775,759       10,492,982     

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 792,261          -                      820,000          1,612,261       

Finance lease liabilities 206,142          -                      -                      206,142          

998,403          -                      820,000          1,818,403       

Net assets 6,404,483       314,337          1,955,759       8,674,579       

Less: Net financial assets

  denominated in the Company's 

  functional currency (6,404,483)      -                      -                      (6,404,483)      

Net currency exposure -                      314,337          1,955,759       2,270,096       

Exposure based on 7% -                      22,004            136,903          158,907          

Company

2017
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (ii) Price risk 

 

 The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of the investments held by the 

Group which are classified on the statement of financial position as financial assets, at fair 

value through other comprehensive income and financial assets, at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

 

 A 10% increase / decrease in the underlying equity prices at the reporting date would increase / 

decrease equity and the results of the Group and the Company by the following amounts 

assuming all other variable remain constant: 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

S$ S$ S$ S$

Equity - capital reserve 158,337               133,678               -                           -                           

Profit or loss 115,268               132,577               38,659                 68,134                 

Group Company

 
 

 (iii) Interest rate risk 

 

 The Group is exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its surplus 

funds placed with banks. Surplus funds are placed with banks with short-term maturities so as 

to provide the Group with the flexibility to meet working capital and investment needs. 

 

The Group’s borrowings are in fixed rate instruments and are therefore not subject to cash 

flows interest rate risks. 

 

23. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

 

 The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled 

between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

 

 (a) Fair value hierarchy 

   

  The Company categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on 

the valuation inputs used as follows: 

 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the 

Company can access at the measurement date, 

 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly, and 

 

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in 

the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 

measurement. 
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23. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (b) Assets not at fair value  

 

  (i) Amounts due from subsidiaries and associates (non-current) 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017

Group S$ S$ S$ S$

Non-current financial assets

Amounts due from 

  subsidiaries and associates 990                   -                       * -

Company

Non-current financial assets

Amounts due from 

  subsidiaries and associates 4,708,102         5,178,730         * *

Fair valueCarrying amount

 
 

   * The fair value information has not been disclosed for amounts due from subsidiaries and 

associates because fair value cannot be measured reliably.  

 

  (ii) Other current assets, cash and cash equivalents, other payables and financial lease liabilities  

 

   The carrying amounts of these balances are reasonable approximation of fair values due to the 

relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.   
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23. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Assets at fair value 

   

  The following table shows an analysis of the assets measured at fair value: 

 

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

for identical 

instruments

Significant 

observable 

inputs other 

than quoted 

prices

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

S$ S$ S$ S$

Group

2018

Financial assets, at fair value

  through other comprehensive

  income

- Quoted equity shares 575,015               -                           -                           575,015               

- Unquoted equity securities -                           -                           1,008,357            1,008,357            

Financial assets, at fair value 

  through profit or loss

- Quoted equity shares 1,152,677            -                           -                           1,152,677            

1,727,692            -                           1,008,357            2,736,049            

Group

2017

Available-for-sale financial

  assets

- Quoted equity shares 145,800               - -                           145,800               

- Unquoted equity securities -                           - 1,190,984            1,190,984            

Financial assets, at fair value 

  through profit or loss

- Quoted equity shares 1,325,773            -                           - 1,325,773            

1,471,573            -                           1,190,984            2,662,557            

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using
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23. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Assets at fair value (Cont’d) 

 

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

for identical 

instruments

Significant 

observable 

inputs other 

than quoted 

prices

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs Total

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

S$ S$ S$ S$

2018

Financial assets, at fair value 

   through profit or loss

- Quoted equity shares 386,587               - -                           386,587               

2017

Financial assets, at fair value 

   through profit or loss

- Quoted equity shares 681,345               - -                           681,345               

Company

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

Company

 
 

  The following table present the changes in Level 3 instruments: 

 

2018 2017

S$ S$

Opening balance 1,190,984            1,049,620            

Purchase 13,051                 237,789               

Return in capital call -                           (1,463)                  

Exchange loss 27,112                 (45,034)                

Net changes in fair value (222,790)              (49,928)                

Closing balance 1,008,357            1,190,984            

Group

 
 

  The fair value is calculated using the net asset value (NAV) of the investee entity adjusted for the fair 

value of the underlying assets, where applicable.  
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24. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements 

  

 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial 

statements. They affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based 

on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. 

 

 (a) Expected credit losses (ECL) on receivables 

   

  ECLs are unbiased probability-weighted estimates of credit losses which are determined by 

evaluating a range of possible outcomes and taking into account past events, current conditions and 

assessment of future economic conditions. 

   

  The Group has used relevant historical information and loss experience to determine the probability 

of default of the instruments and incorporated forward looking information, including significant 

changes in external market indicators which involved significant estimates and judgements. 

   

  In determining the ECL of receivables, the Group has used one year of historical losses data to 

determine the loss rate and applied an adjustment against the historical loss rate based on the change 

in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and unemployment rate to reflect the current and forward-looking 

information. 

 

 (b) Uncertain Tax Positions 

   

  Significant judgement is involved in determining the capital allowance and deductibility of certain 

expenses during the estimation of the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and 

calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 

business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates whether 

additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 

amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 

 (c) Depreciation of Plant and Equipment 

   

  Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and equipment range from 3 – 8 years. The 

carrying amount of the Group’s and the Company’s plant and equipment at 31 December 2018 was 

disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

 

Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic 

useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be 

revised. 

 

 (d) Judgements Made In Applying The Group’s Accounting Policies 

   

  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are of the opinion that there 

is no application of judgement on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
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24. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements (Cont’d) 

 

 (e) Impairment of Investments 

   

  The carrying amount of the investments in subsidiaries and associates are reviewed by management for 

impairment in accordance with FRS 36 Impairment of Assets. Determining whether the investments in 

subsidiaries and associates are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 

investment. The calculation of the recoverable amount requires the entity to estimate the future cash 

flows expected to arise from the investments in subsidiaries and associates and a suitable discount rate 

in order to calculate present value. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the 

future cash flows at an appropriate discount rate. If the performance of the subsidiaries and associates 

and/or market conditions were to deteriorate which will affect the Company’s investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, impairment loss may be required. At the end of the reporting period, 

additional impairment of the investments in subsidiaries of S$1 was made. The carrying amount of the 

Company’s investments in subsidiaries and associates were disclosed in Note 8 and Note 9. 

 

25. Financial Instruments by Category 

  

 At the reporting date, the aggregate carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities were as 

follows:- 

 

Group Company

S$ S$

Financial assets, at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,583,372            -                           

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 1,152,677            386,587               

Financial assets, at amortised cost 4,775,058            9,781,218            

Financial liabilities, at amortised cost 1,106,915            1,794,762            

2018

 
 

Group Company

S$ S$

Financial assets

Loans and receivables 5,850,022            4,632,907            

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,336,784            -                           

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 1,325,773            681,345               

8,512,579            5,314,252            

Financial liabilities 

Other payables 921,900               1,612,261            

Finance lease liabilities 206,142               206,142               

1,128,042            1,818,403            

2017
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26. Continuing Financial Support 

  

 During the financial year, the Company had given an undertaking to its subsidiaries, Glopeak Land Pte Ltd 

and Firstlink Capital Pte Ltd to provide financial support to enable them to operate as going concern and to 

meet their obligations for at least 12 months from the respective date of their auditor’s report. 

 

27. General 

  

 The Company is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its registered office and principal place of 
business situated at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692. 

  

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries and 

associates are disclosed in Note 8 and 9 to the financial statements. 

  

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

 

28. Authorisation of Financial Statements 

  

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED on 07 June 2019.  

 



SHARE CAPITAL INFORMATION AS AT 7 JUNE 2019

Number of Issued Shares : 492,313,121

Class of Shares : Ordinary share fully paid

Voting rights : One vote per share

TOP 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 7 JUNE 2019

No. Name No. of shares %

1 ALPHASKY GROUP LIMITED 91,667,800 18.62

2 CAI JUEQIANG 19,000,000 3.86

3 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 18,423,600 3.74

4 NG HENRY HONG 14,578,002 2.96

5 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 12,000,000 2.44

6 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   11,052,540 2.25

7 LEE SUI HEE                   10,872,000 2.21

8 KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  9,168,600 1.86

9 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          8,783,466 1.78

10 HOO LEN YUH                   5,686,600 1.16

11 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    5,093,000 1.03

12 GOH SEH KIAT 5,000,000 1.02

13 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE  PRIVATE LIMITED  4,967,200 1.01

14 TAN THIAM HIN                 4,200,000 0.85

15 CHEN SONGQIN 3,800,000 0.77

16 HUN SIO WA 3,170,000 0.64

17 LALCHAND JETHANAND DARYANANI  2,998,000 0.61

18 TAM KWOK WING                 2,830,000 0.57

19 MUN HON PHENG                 2,800,000 0.57

20 SHUKEI TOKUDA                 1,861,800 0.38

TOTAL 237,952,608 48.33



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
Company Registration No. 197802562E

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fortieth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 
Sapphire I & II, Level 2, Social Clubhouse, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162 on 28 June 2019 at 
9.30am, to transact the following business:

AS ROUTINE BUSINESS:

1.  To receive the Audited Financial Statements for financial year ended 31 December 2018 together 
with the Directors’ Statement and Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1) 

2.  To re-elect Mr. David Wang as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s 
Constitution.    (Resolution 2)

3.  To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$40,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 
2019 (2018: S$60,000), to be paid quarterly in arrears to the Directors.  (Resolution 3)

4.  To appoint Messrs. CKS Associates as Auditors of the Company in place of Messrs. K.C. Chan & 
Co PAC to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and 
to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.  (Resolution 4)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:

5.  To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or 
without modifications:

Ordinary Resolution:

Authority to issue and allot shares

“THAT pursuant to provisions of Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and 
notwithstanding the provisions of Article 48(1) of the Company’s Constitution but subject otherwise 
to the provisions of the Act and the Company’s Constitution, the Directors be and are hereby 
authorised to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus 
or otherwise) where the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to such authority 
does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being, 
of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the 
time being, at any time and for such purposes and to such persons on such terms and conditions 
and with such rights or restrictions as they may in their absolute discretion think fit to impose and 
that such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
or the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”
[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 5)

6.  To transact any other routine business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lydia Liew Su Sin
Company Secretary

Singapore, 12 June 2019



Explanatory Note:

(i) Resolution 5, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company effective from the date of this Annual General 
Meeting until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company at 
a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, up to a number not exceeding, in aggregate 50% of the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which the total number of shares 
and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, for such 
purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company.

Notes:

a) A member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of 
the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a 
member of the Company.

b) Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be 
invalid unless he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be 
represented by each proxy.

c) A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it 
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of 
the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore, and the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution 
certified by a director of the corporation to be a true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so 
represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were an individual.

d) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be in writing and in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the 
appointer or by its attorney. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it shall be 
signed by its attorney or by an officer on behalf of the corporation executed with or without common seal pursuant to 
Section 41 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

e) Completion and return of the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, 
speaking and voting at the Annual General Meeting if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the Annual 
General Meeting will be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the Annual General Meeting in person and in such 
event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies to the Annual General Meeting.

f) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, or the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, 
must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692 not 
less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting.

* A “Relevant Intermediary” is:

“Relevant intermediary” has the same meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking 
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; or

b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and 
Futures Act (Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased 
under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and 
interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of 
an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 
member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration 
and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General 
Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and 
other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or 
its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the 
“Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of 
such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of 
any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
Company Registration No. 197802562E

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

I/We*,  NRIC/Passport/Co Reg No.*:  

of  (Address) being

a member/members* of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No.* Proportion of Shareholdings

No.  of Shares %

Address

and/or*

Name NRIC/Passport No.* Proportion of Shareholdings

No.  of Shares %

Address

or failing him/her/them*, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our* proxy/proxies* to attend and vote for me/us* on 
my/our* behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Fortieth Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the 
Company to be held at Sapphire I & II, Level 2, Social Clubhouse, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162 on 28 
June 2019 at 9.30am and at any adjournment thereof.  

I/We* hereby direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote “for” or “against” the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as 
indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at 
the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies* will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/their* 
discretion.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with an [X] within the box provided.)

NO. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2018 together with the Directors’ Statement and Auditors’ Report 
thereon.

2. To re-elect Mr. David Wang as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 99 of 
the Company’s Constitution.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$40,000 for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2019 (2018: S$60,000), to be paid quarterly in arrears to 
the Directors.

4. To appoint Messrs. CKS Associates as Auditors of the Company in place 
of Messrs. K.C. Chan & Co PAC to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration.

Special Business

5. Authority to issue new shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, 
Cap. 50.

Note: Please note that the short descriptions given above of the Resolutions to be passed do not in any way 
whatsoever reflect the intent and purpose of the Resolutions. The short descriptions have been inserted for 
convenience only. Shareholders are encouraged to refer to the Notice of Annual General Meeting for the full 
purpose and intent of the Resolutions to be passed.

Dated this         day of                            2019

____________________________________
Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)
*Delete accordingly

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Total Number of Shares Held



IMPORTANT NOTES TO PROXY FORM:

1.  A member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is 
entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless 
he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3.  A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 
of Singapore, and the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation 
to be a true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in 
person if it were an individual.

4.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be in writing and in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by its 
attorney. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it shall be signed by its attorney or by an officer 
on behalf of the corporation executed with or without common seal pursuant to Section 41 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50.

5.  Completion and return of the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and 
voting at the Annual General Meeting if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the Annual General Meeting will be deemed 
to be revoked if the member attends the Annual General Meeting in person and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to 
admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy or proxies to the Annual General Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, or the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, must be 
deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692 not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting. 

 

 

7. A member should insert the total number of shares being held. If the member has shares registered in his/her name in the Register of 
Members of the Company, he/she should insert that number of shares.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to 
relate to all the shares held by member of the Company.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true 
intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument of proxy.  

* A “Relevant Intermediary” is:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, whose 
business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 
(Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased under the 
subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the 
credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in 
accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the Personal Data Privacy 
term as set out in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting dated 12 June 2019. 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
1 Phillip Street 

#08-01 Royal One Phillip
Singapore 048692
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